FILED
04-02-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2019AP1876-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

DONALD P. COUGHLIN,

Defendant-Appellant.

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-6203 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) collinsws@doj.state.wi.us

###

#### INTRODUCTION

This Court should grant this petition and review a court of appeals' decision that reversed 15 child sexual assault convictions. A jury had found Donald Coughlin guilty of four counts for sexually assaulting his stepsons' cousin, identified as John Doe 2.1 And the jury found Coughlin guilty of 11 counts for sexually assaulting his stepson, identified as John Doe 3.

This petition satisfies the criteria for review on two independent grounds. First, the court of appeals' decision identified a novel question that it left unanswered. The novel question concerns how a court should consider the theory of guilt when an inconsistency exists between a jury instruction and verdict. Second, the court of appeals' decision conflicts with controlling opinions of this Court and other court of appeals' decisions. Precedent establishes that any vagueness in testimony is an issue of credibility and weight with the jury deciding such issues. But here, the court of appeals broke from precedent by concluding such vagueness rendered the evidence insufficient, thereby substituting reasonable inferences drawn by the jury for its own judgment. Evidence sufficiency is an issue of constitutional law appropriate for this Court's review.

This Court should grant the petition to answer a novel question, resolve a conflict between controlling opinions and the court of appeals' decision, and review whether sufficient evidence exists to sustain these 15 sexual assault convictions.

<sup>1</sup> The State identifies the victims in this petition by the "John Doe" designations used in the information and amended information (R. 11; 136). *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4) (victim deidentification).

-

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. How does a court consider the theory of guilt in an evidence sufficiency claim when an inconsistency exists between a jury instruction and verdict?

The circuit court never considered this issue because Coughlin hadn't alleged any error in the jury instructions or verdict forms in the trial or postconviction proceedings.

The court of appeals identified this novel question but left it unanswered.

This Court should grant review to resolve this novel question as to how a court reviews the theory of guilt when such an inconsistency exists.

2. Must a court accept a jury's resolution of any vagueness in testimony as jury credibility and weight determinations and must a court then adopt the reasonable inferences that a jury may have drawn from the evidence?

The circuit court did not specifically answer this question, though the court recognized that it must assume the jury relied on the testimony to support its verdicts.

The court of appeals concluded that vagueness precluded the jury from finding guilt, thereby rendering the evidence insufficient.

This Court should grant review to resolve a conflict between the court of appeals' decision and controlling precedent.

3. Has Coughlin, as the defendant challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, met his heavy burden to overcome the great deference this Court gives to the jury and its verdict to satisfy that the evidence, viewed most favorably to the State and the convictions, was insufficient to sustain the 15 guilty verdicts relating to his sexual assaults of John Doe 2 and John Doe 3?

The circuit court concluded the evidence was sufficient and Coughlin had not shown otherwise.

The court of appeals concluded that the evidence was insufficient. But it was silent as to burden, never articulating whether Coughlin satisfied his burden.

This Court should grant review and reverse the decision of the court of appeals on this presented issue.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case.

The State petitions this Court for review of a court of appeals' decision that reversed 15 convictions for child sexual assault.<sup>2</sup> A jury had found Coughlin guilty of four counts for sexually assaulting John Doe 2 and 11 counts for sexually assaulting John Doe 3. (R. 199:7–21.) After the convictions, Coughlin claimed the evidence was insufficient. (R. 242:10–13.) The circuit court denied Coughlin's motion after finding there "was more than enough evidence to properly convict" him. (R. 309:19–20.) Coughlin appealed. (R. 257.) The court of appeals stated the evidence was insufficient and reversed the 15 child sexual assault convictions. *State v. Coughlin*, No. 2019AP1876–CR, 2021 WL 822223, ¶ 37, (Wis. Ct. App., March 4, 2021) (unpublished).

### Charges.

The State charged Coughlin with 15 counts relevant to this petition. (R. 11 (information); 136 (amended information).) Four counts charged Coughlin with sexually

\_

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  This petition relates to the 15 convictions that pertain to John Doe 2 and John Doe 3. Because the court of appeals' decision affirmed the counts that pertain to John Doe 1, these six counts are beyond the scope of this petition. See State v. Coughlin, No. 2019AP1876–CR, 2021 WL 822223, ¶¶ 1–2 (Wis. Ct. App., March 4, 2021) (upublished) (concluding the evidence was sufficient related to John Doe 1).

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 7 of 36

assaulting John Doe 2 and eleven counts charged Coughlin with sexually assaulting John Doe 3 between a period from 1989 to 1994:

	Count	Statute	Violation Date Range	Victim Age
John Doe 2	7	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)	September 1, 1989, and November 19, 1989	Under 13
	8	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	September 1, 1990, and December 31, 1990	Under 16
	9	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	September 1, 1991, and December 31, 1991	Under 16
	11	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	September 1, 1992, and November 19, 1992	Under 16
John Doe 3	12	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)	September 1, 1989, and November 19, 1989	Under 13
	13	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)	February 1, 1990, and May 14, 1990	Under 13
	14	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)	September 1, 1990, and December 31, 1990	Under 13
	15	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1)	February 1, 1991, and May 14, 1991	Under 13
	16	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	September 1, 1991, and November 9, 1991	Under 16
	17	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	February 1, 1992, and May 14, 1992	Under 16
	18	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	September 1, 1992, and December 31, 1992	Under 16

John Doe 3	19	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	February 1, 1993, and May 14, 1993	Under 16
	20	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	September 1, 1993, and December 31, 1993	Under 16
	21	Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)	February 1, 1994, and May 14, 1994	Under 16
	22	Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)	September 1, 1994, and November 9, 1994	Under 16

(Compare R. 11:3–5 (information), with 136:3–7 (amended information.) $^3$ 

The State does not address additional counts beyond the scope of this petition.<sup>4</sup>

### Jury Trial.

The case proceeded to trial in the spring of 2017. During jury selection, the court instructed the jury about each charge in the information. (R. 298:46–58.) In 14 of the 15 counts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The amended information had a drafting error in Count 12. (*Compare* R. 11:3 (information), *with* 136:4 (amended information). The record demonstrates Count 12 proceeded as charged in the original information without the drafting error. (*Compare* R. 11:3 (information), *with* 199:11 (verdict form); 298:52 (charge); 305:77 (jury instruction); 307:11 (verdict instruction).) Hereinafter, the State only cites in this petition to the amended information filed on May 4, 2017, assuming Count 12 proceeded as charged in the original information without the drafting error.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Counts 1 thru 6 as well as 10 and 23 are not relevant to this petition. Here it is sufficient to know that: (1) the State charged Coughlin in the first six counts with sexually assaulting his elder stepson, identified as John Doe 1, (R. 136:1–3), with the jury finding him guilty on Counts 1 thru 6 (R. 199:1–6), (2) the court dismissed Count 10 based upon a stipulation of the parties (R. 284:24), and (3) the jury acquitted Coughlin of Count 23 (R. 199:22).

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 9 of 36

related to this petition, the court explained that the counts charged Coughlin with having sexual contact by touching the victims' penises. (R. 298:50–57.) The court also explained that the final related count charged Coughlin with committing three or more sexual assault violations against John Doe 3. (R. 298:57.)

The jury heard testimony about how Coughlin groomed the victims by normalizing the touching of a child's genitals. (R. 299:152–54, 289; 301:87–88, 155–58.) John Doe 3 explained Coughlin "grubb[ed]" by "giv[ing] your testicles a squeeze . . . and hurt[ing] them, but not until he got a good feel of what he was grabbing on to." (R. 301:87–88.) John Doe 3 explained that Coughlin "would grab it in a way that I think he was trying to arouse me." (R. 301:107.) John Doe 3's older brother, John Doe 1, said Coughlin made a game out of "grubbing" the children, and that the children started doing it with one another. (R. 299:152–54.)

Each victim testified Coughlin had a recurring interest in the size of penises that included Coughlin measuring the children's penises. (R. 299:165–66; 301:48–49; 303:17–19, 23.) Coughlin measuring penises stood out to John Doe 2 because it was the first instance of sexual activity between Coughlin and him. (R. 303:17–19.) John Doe 2 described multiple instances of measuring penises. (R. 303:17–19, 23.) John Doe 3 testified that Coughlin "frequently" measured his penis. (R. 301:48–49.)

John Doe 2 testified that Coughlin repeatedly sexually assaulted him between the autumn of 1989 and the autumn of 1992. (R. 303:28–29.) John Doe 2 said, besides measuring penises, the only sexual activity that Coughlin directly engaged in with him was Coughlin masturbating on John Doe 2's penis. (R. 303:23–24.) John Doe 2 explained that the sexual activity took place during visits with his cousins when Coughlin was alone with the boys. (See R. 303:12–13, 19–20,

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 10 of 36

22–23.) John Doe 2 said that masturbation became such a common occurrence that Coughlin kept paper towels nearby to clean up after ejaculation. (R. 303:24.)

John Doe 3 testified that Coughlin touched his penis repeatedly during sexual activity that occurred during a tenyear period from the mid-1980s until the fall of 1994. (R. 301:25, 37–38, 94–95.) John Doe 3 testified that the first sexual abuse happened when he was seven years old. (R. 301:25, 37–38.) It happened often thereafter throughout his childhood. (R. 301:39-40.) John Doe 3 said, "[t]here were many of them" (R. 301:44), with Coughlin "always" asking to engage in masturbation, (R. 301:45), such that masturbating with Coughlin became "like a normal day" (R. 301:64). It was a common—even a weekly—occurrence. (R. 301:45, 59, 62, 84.) Some of the instances involved Coughlin touching and masturbating on John Doe 3's penis. (R. 301:41, 45, 47–48.) And other instances involved John Doe 3 touching and masturbating on Coughlin's penis under Coughlin's direction. (R. 301:42.)

The victims testified that they did not report Coughlin's sexual abuse when they were children. John Doe 3 described Coughlin as an "unstable character" and "very abusive, angry person" who was physically, sexually, and mentally abusive. (R. 301:29–30, 66.) John Doe 3 recalled Coughlin threatening to kill him on multiple occasions if he ever told anybody about the abuse. (R. 301:65–66.) John Doe 2 agreed that Coughlin had "definitely made it known that we shouldn't tell people." (R. 303:20.) John Doe 3's older brother, John Doe 1, was the first to report the sexual abuse after he was an adult. (R. 299:166–67, 239–40.)

Coughlin denied ever sexually assaulting any of the victims. (R. 304:152.) Coughlin acknowledged being familiar with "grubbing," but he alleged that he never engaged in the activity. (R. 304:175–77.) Coughlin acknowledged that people

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 11 of 36

talked and acted in a sexual manner within the home. (R. 304:67.) When asked whether Coughlin participated in sexual language within the house, he replied, "Very little, no." (R. 304:67.) Coughlin acknowledged sometimes being alone with the victims, but described it as "very seldom" and "very little." (R. 304:166–70.) Coughlin denied sexually molesting any of the victims. (R. 304:82, 85–86, 88.)

The State provides additional information in the argument section about the testimony related to the relevant counts in this petition.

Jury instructions and verdicts.

After the close of evidence, the circuit court instructed the jury and also read each verdict form to the jury prior to its deliberation. (R. 305:64–69, 77–79, 83–85; 307:4–18.)

In instructing the jury about the first 14 counts related to John Doe 2 and John Doe 3, the court identified that the charges alleged Coughlin "did have sexual contact with a child . . . by the defendant touching the victim's penis." (R. 305:66–69, 77–79.) But in defining sexual contact, the court stated it included *either* Coughlin touching the victims' penises *or* the victims touching Coughlin's penis. (R. 305:70–71, 80–81.)

In instructing the jury about the final count related to John Doe 3, the court identified that the charge alleged Coughlin "did commit three or more sexual assaults" (R. 305:83), by having sexual contact with the victim (R. 305:84). The court defined sexual contact to include the intentional touching of the victim's penis or "an intentional touching by the victim of the penis of Donald P. Coughlin, if the defendant intentionally caused or allowed the victim to do that touching." (R. 305:85.)

The court explained that the jury had two verdict forms for each count—one guilty and one not guilty. (R. 307:4–18.) The court read each of the guilty forms for the 14 counts,

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 12 of 36

including: "We, the jury, find the defendant, Donald P. Coughlin, guilty of having sexual contact . . . by the defendant touching the victim's penis." (R. 307:8–17.) The court then read the guilty form for the final count related to John Doe 3: "We, the jury, find the defendant, Donald P. Coughlin, guilty of committing three or more sexual assaults of [John Doe 3]." (R. 307:17.)

The jury deliberated and later returned guilty verdicts against Coughlin. (R. 199:1–20.) The 14 verdict forms each explicitly stated Coughlin was guilty of having sexual contact "by the defendant touching the victim's penis." (R. 199:7–20.) The final verdict form related to John Doe 3 stated Coughlin was guilty of committing three or more sexual assaults of John Doe 3 during the relevant period charged in the count. The court then confirmed with the jury that it found Coughlin guilty of the 14 counts for having sexual contact "by the defendant touching the victim's penis" and the count for "committing three or more sexual assaults" of John Doe 3. (R. 307:52–58.)

### Conviction and sentencing.

The court entered judgments of conviction on the 15 counts related to this petition and adjourned the case for a sentencing hearing. (R. 307:70, 72.) Thereafter, the court imposed prison for each count. (R. 308:119–22.) The combined sentences on the counts equated to a 48-year prison sentence. (R. 308:119–22.) The court entered the sentence in a judgment of conviction. (R. 220.)

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 13 of 36

### Postconviction.

Coughlin filed a postconviction motion that alleged there was an insufficient factual basis to support a conviction on each count. (R. 242:10–13.)<sup>5</sup>

Coughlin did not raise any concern relating to the jury instructions that defined sexual contact. He explained in his motion that the court advised the jury correctly that sexual contact meant either Coughlin having intentionally touched the victims' penises or the victims having intentionally touched Coughlin's penis (R. 242:11; 309:8), explaining that the court had embraced his interpretation as to the meaning of sexual contact (R. 254:2).

Coughlin argued that vagueness in the victims' description of the sexual activity rendered the evidence insufficient. (R. 242:12–13.) Coughlin observed that the victims had testified to several acts of sexual activity. (R. 242:12–13.) Coughlin acknowledged that touching the victims' penises is sexual contact. (R. 242:12–13.) He similarly recognized that having the victims touch his penis is sexual contact. (R. 242:12–13.) But he argued that another type of sexual activity—urging the victims to touch their own penises—fell outside the definition of sexual contact. (R. 242:12–13.) Coughlin argued that the evidence was insufficient because "[t]he jury had no way of knowing for sure what sexual activity occurred during each [charged] time period." (R. 242:12.)

The circuit court denied Coughlin's motion. (R. 309:19–20.) The court recognized that it must accept the jury's credibility determinations, observing "it must be assumed that the jury used th[e] testimony to support its verdict that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State does not address Coughlin's other claims not relevant to this petition. Coughlin had also alleged ineffectiveness of counsel and that the real controversy had not been tried. (R. 242:14–16.)

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 14 of 36

the defendant was guilty." (R. 309:19.) The court concluded "the jury acted reasonably and could be convinced beyond reasonable doubt by the evidence that was presented to the jury in this case." (R. 309:20.) The court observed the evidence showed more sexual assaults than just the charged counts such that the State "was nice in some ways of not charging more sexual assaults." (R. 309:20.) The court found "[t]here could have been more charges out of this then what was charged, even ten fold . . . in some cases." (R. 309:20.) The court entered an order denying Coughlin's postconviction motions on September 13, 2019. (R. 312.)

### Appeal and petition for review.

Coughlin filed a notice of appeal and commenced with an appeal. (R. 257.) He again claimed the evidence was insufficient to convict. (Coughlin's Br. 10–22.)

Coughlin presented multiple insufficiency claims on appeal, including a new claim he hadn't advanced in the circuit court. Coughlin continued his claim that the victims were either "vague" or "very general" in their testimony such that there was "no way to determine the frequency" that he had sexual contact with the victims. (Coughlin's Br. 13, 17, 19.) But he added a new claim that "the definition of sexual contact was expanded in the jury instructions." (Coughlin's Br. 11.) Coughlin argued the court should review only whether the evidence was sufficient to Coughlin having touched the victims' penises—not under the alternate theory of whether the victims had touched his penis. (Coughlin's Br. 11–12.)

The State argued the evidence was sufficient. The State explained the testimony sufficiently supported the jury's verdicts for Coughlin having had sexual contact. (State's Br. 14–20.) As for Coughlin's new jury instruction claim, the State argued the "claim fails on the merits and because he forfeited and underdeveloped his argument." (State's Br. 20.)

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 15 of 36

The State preserved argument as to the jury instructions should the case proceed to this Court. (State's Br. 24–25, n.12–13.) For purposes of the appellate court's review, the State argued the evidence was sufficient under even the narrower definition of sexual contact limited to Coughlin having touched the victims' penises. (State's Br. 23–24.)

The court of appeals disagreed, concluding the evidence was insufficient to convict Coughlin for sexually assaulting John Doe 2 and John Doe 3.6 *Coughlin*, 2021 WL 822223,  $\P\P$  1–2.

The State now petitions for this Court for review and provides additional information in the argument section about the appeal and appellate court decision.

### CONCISE STATEMENT OF THE CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Two independent grounds satisfy the criteria for this Court to grant review. First, a decision by this Court will help develop and clarify sufficiency of the evidence law by answering a novel question the resolution of which will have statewide impact, thereby satisfying the criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2. Second, the court of appeals' decision conflicts with controlling opinions of this Court and other court of appeals decisions, thereby satisfying the criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d). Both grounds present a real and significant question of constitutional law because sufficiency of the evidence review is "grounded in the due process guarantees of the Fourteenth Amendment" where "the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment precludes retrial when the evidence is insufficient." State v. Miller, 2009 WI App 111, ¶ 28, 320 Wis. 2d 724, 772 N.W.2d

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The court of appeals' decision affirmed six counts for Coughlin sexually assaulting John Doe 1 that are beyond the scope of this petition. *Coughlin*, 2021 WL 822223, ¶¶ 1–2.

188. So both grounds satisfy the criterion in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). The argument that follows further amplifies these criteria and reasons relied on to support this petition.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. This Court should grant this petition because a decision will resolve a novel question by clarifying how to review the theory of guilt within an evidence sufficiency claim.

This case presents a novel question because no precedent resolves how a reviewing court deduces the theory of guilt when an inconsistency exists between a jury instruction and verdict form. Here, in 14 of the counts at issue, the jury received a broader definition of sexual contact in the jury instruction than it did in the verdict forms.<sup>7</sup>

A. A novel question exists because no precedent resolves how a court deduces a theory of guilt when an inconsistency exists between an instruction and verdict.

In a sufficiency of the evidence claim, a court reviews only "whether the *theory of guilt* accepted by the trier of fact is supported by sufficient evidence to sustain the verdict rendered." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 508, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990) (emphasis added). An appellate court may deduce the theory of guilt from the instruction received and verdict rendered by the jury. *See State v. Witkowski*, 163 Wis. 2d 985, 991, 473 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1991) (court considers instructions in evidence sufficiency review).

But, as the appellate court observed here, no precedent resolves how a reviewing court considers the theory of guilt

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The State does not discuss the fifteenth relevant count, Count 22, here because it doesn't pertain to the novel question.

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 17 of 36

when an inconsistency exists between an instruction and verdict. *Coughlin*, 2021 WL 822223, ¶ 18 n.11. This Court resolved in *State v. Beamon* how to address the theory of guilt when an instruction contains a legal misstatement that erroneously contains an additional requirement:

We conclude that jury instructions that add requirements to what the statute sets out as necessary to prove the commission of a crime are erroneous; and therefore, we examine the sufficiency of the evidence in this case by comparison to what the statute requires and not by comparison to an additional requirement in the jury instructions.

State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47, ¶ 3, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681. But here, there is no claim of legal error in the jury instructions. (R. 309:8 (Coughlin conceding legal definition correct).) So Beamon is inapposite.

The novel question to resolve in this case is how a reviewing court considers the theory of guilt when an instruction and verdict are both legally correct, but inconsistent with one another.

B. This Court should grant this petition because the court of appeals' opinion squarely recognized this novel question, but left it unanswered.

This petition presents the opportunity for this Court to develop sufficiency of the evidence doctrine by clarifying how a reviewing court considers the theory of guilt.

The court of appeals' opinion clouds, rather than clarifies, sufficiency of the evidence law. The court of appeals elevated the novel question to the foreground of its opinion despite Coughlin having not raised it in the postconviction proceedings. (See R. 309:8 (arguing court's sexual contact definition was correct).) The court of appeals made this novel question a focal point in its opinion, dedicating several

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 18 of 36

paragraphs to discussing it.<sup>8</sup> *Coughlin*, 2021 WL 822223, ¶¶ 16–19. But the court of appeals' decision ultimately ended by "assum[ing] without deciding" how it should consider the case theory. Id. ¶ 19.

The underlying case is an appropriate vehicle for this Court's review for multiple reasons. First, the question is squarely presented within a sufficiency of the evidence claim without extraneous legal claims because Coughlin abandoned an ineffectiveness of trial counsel claim. *Coughlin*, 2021 WL 822223, ¶ 12 n.7. So review by this Court doesn't require layering constitutional doctrine. Second, the facts of the case are particularly well-suited for this Court to consider how to review the theory of guilt in relation to each victim. John Doe 2 testified that he never touched Coughlin's penis. (R. 303:23–24.) In contrast, John Doe 3 identified that he had touched the defendant's penis. (R. 301:42.) This Court may clarify how to review the theory of guilt in each situation, thereby developing sufficiency of the evidence doctrine in multiple scenarios.

This Court should grant this petition to answer a novel question, i.e., how to resolve an insufficiency of evidence claim when the jury instruction and the verdict form present alternate theories of guilt. The court of appeals opinion squarely recognized, but left unanswered, this question. A decision by this Court will have statewide impact by clarifying

<sup>8</sup> The court of appeals' decision misconstrued the State's argument and case presentation. The opinion alleged the State ignored the broader definition of sexual contact in the instruction. *Coughlin*, 2021 WL 822223, ¶ 17 n.10. But that is not accurate. The State addressed Coughlin's sufficiency claim, as he presented it. (State's Br. 22–24.) Given the limited error-correction role of the appellate court (State's Br. 25 n.13), the State argued evidence that Coughlin had touched the victims' penises was sufficient in each of the relevant counts, while preserving further argument relating to the jury instructions should this case proceed to this Court. (State's Br. 23–25 n.12–13.)

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 19 of 36

how a court reviews the theory of guilt when such an inconsistency exists.

II. This Court should grant this petition because a decision will resolve a conflict between the court of appeals' decision and controlling opinions of this Court and other appellate court decisions.

This case also warrants review because the court of appeals' decision is inconsistent with precedent. Precedent holds that a jury—not an appellate court—resolves any vagueness in testimony. Evidence sufficiency doctrine requires a reviewing court to accept the reasonable inferences a jury drew from the evidence. The reviewing court cannot substitute its deductions for that of the jury. Here, the court of appeals' decision failed to abide by precedent, concluding that vagueness in testimony rendered the evidence insufficient.

A. Doctrine holds that vagueness in testimony goes to credibility and weight that a jury resolves through reasonable inferences it may draw from the evidence.

Under evidence sufficiency doctrine, the jury weighs the evidence and draws reasonable inferences from the evidence. State v. Hauk, 2002 WI App 226, ¶ 12, 257 Wis. 2d 579, 652 N.W.2d 393. It is the jury's task to "resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 506. The jury decides "which evidence is credible and which is not" and may "reject evidence and testimony suggestive of innocence." Id. at 503.

When a jury may draw multiple reasonable inferences from the evidence, an appellate court must adopt the inference that supports the verdict. *Id.* at 504. This requirement "is the same in either a direct or circumstantial"

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 20 of 36

evidence case." *Id.* at 501. It is not necessary that the appellate court "be convinced of the defendant's guilt but only that the court is satisfied the jury acting reasonably could be so convinced." *State v. Koller*, 87 Wis. 2d 253, 266, 274 N.W.2d 651 (1979). The appellate court's review must be "highly deferential to a jury's verdict." *Beamon*, 347 Wis. 2d 559,  $\P$  21.

Evidence sufficiency doctrine aligns with another branch of precedential doctrine relating to the constitutional due process right of notice of charges and the right against double jeopardy. *Compare Miller*, 320 Wis. 2d 724, ¶ 28 (evidence sufficiency), with State v. Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 250–51, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988) (notice). Courts recognize that, "[i]n a case involving a child victim, . . . a more flexible application of notice requirements is required and permitted." Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 254.

In Fawcett, the court explained that "[t]he vagaries of a child's memory more properly go to the credibility of the witness and the weight of the testimony, rather than to the legality of the prosecution in the first instance." Id. "Time is not of the essence in [child] sexual assault cases' when the date of the commission of the crime is not a material element of the offense, it need not be precisely alleged." State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 34, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174 (quoting Fawcett, 145 Wis. 2d at 250). Courts "are mindful that child victims of sexual assault are often unable to pinpoint dates," such that courts "do not hold the state to an impossible burden, especially when the state has no control over the ability to narrow." State v. Stark, 162 Wis. 2d 537, 545, 470 N.W.2d 317 (Ct. App. 1991). So any vagueness "go[es] to [a victim's] credibility and the weight of [the victim's] testimony." State v. Kempainen, 2014 WI App 53, ¶ 24, 354 Wis. 2d 177, 848 N.W.2d 320, aff'd, 2015 WI 32, 361 Wis. 2d 450, ¶¶ 24–25, 862 N.W.2d 587.

Case 2019AP001876 Petition for Review Filed 04-02-2021 Page 21 of 36

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