FILED
04-13-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

\*\*\*\*\*

#### CASE NO. 2019AP001876-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER,

-VS-

Case No. 2010 CF 222 (Juneau County)

DONALD P. COUGHLIN, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN JUNEAU COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN ROEMER (JURY TRIAL), JAMES EVENSON (SENTENCING), AND STACY SMITH (POSTCONVICTION MOTION) PRESIDING.

## DEFENDANT'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BY:

Philip J. Brehm Atty For Def.-App. 23 West Milwaukee St., #200 Janesville, WI 53548 608/756-4994 Bar No. 1001823

Filed 04-13-2021

### Defendant's response to petition for review

The issues raised by the defense during the postconviction proceedings involved the sufficiency of evidence for each of the criminal convictions, ineffective assistance of counsel related to trial counsel's failure to raise issues regarding the sufficiency of the evidence; and an assertion that a new trial was necessary in the interest of justice (242). Trial counsel died before the postconviction motion hearing. The trial court found there was sufficient evidence to support each conviction and that a new trial was not warranted (309:9-20). Defendant appealed.

The court of appeals reversed on some, but not all of counts, concluding there was insufficient evidence to support some of the convictions (State's Appendix at 106-116). The State now petitions for review. Despite the State's wellwritten petition, when one looks at the relevant criteria of Rule 809.62(1r), it is apparent review is neither necessary nor appropriate.

The State cites two reasons why the Wisconsin Supreme court should review this case. First, it asserts there is a novel issue of statewide importance to be resolved (State's Petition at 1). Second, the State asserts the decision of the court of appeals conflicts with decision of other published opinions in the State of Wisconsin on the issue of sufficiency of evidence (State's Petition at 1). Neither supports review.

#### The novel issue is moot as it relates to this case.

As to the first reason, the State correctly points out that an issue relevant to the analysis of the court of appeals did not appear to be resolved by existing case law, that is how a reviewing court deduces a theory of guilty when an inconsistency exists between the jury instructions and the verdict form (State's Petition at 13, court of appeals decision at ¶¶16-19). In its analysis, the court of appeals recognized the verdict form for each of the relevant charges included the specific sexual act of defendant touching the penis of the victim (court of appeals decision, ¶17). The relevant jury instruction given was broader to include both "an intentional touching of the penis of [the victim] by Donald P. Coughlin" and "an intentional touching by the victim of the penis of Donald P. Coughlin if the defendant intentionally cause or

allowed the victim to do that touching" (court of appeals decision, ¶17). The court of appeals accepted the defense invitation to conduct a sufficiency of the evidence analysis limited to whether the there was sufficient evidence to support the specific sexual act listed in the verdict forms (court of appeals decision at ¶19). **However**, later in the opinion, the court of appeals decision reads:

We note that our ultimate conclusion about the sufficiency of the evidence would be the same if we measured the sufficiency of the evidence against the jury instructions. This is because there is no evidence from which a jury could reasonable determine that Coughlin "intentionally caused or allowed" any of the victims to touch Coughlin's penis during the charged time periods but not that Coughlin intentionally touched that victim's penis (court of appeals decision at ¶37, n. 13).

What this cited paragraph ultimately means is that regardless of how the identified issues were to be resolved, the end result is the same *in this case*. Regardless of how the issue may be resolved by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, the result in this case would not change. In *McFarland State Bank v. Sherry*, 2012 WI App 4, ¶9, 338 Wis.2d 462, 809 N.W.2d 58, the court wrote:

An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy. *State ex rel. Treat v. Puckett*, 2002 WI App 58, ¶ 19, 252 Wis.2d 404, 643 N.W.2d 515. Conversely, a case is not moot when "a decision in [a litigant]'s favor ... would afford him some relief that he has not already achieved." *Id*.

As the identified issue is moot, there is no reason for the Wisconsin Supreme Court to resolve it. While there are exceptions to this rule, there does not appear to be a compelling reason for this court to rule on the issue. There probably is no case law on the issue because this type of error does not frequently occur.

Filed 04-13-2021

## The decision of the court of appeals does not conflict with other precedent.

As to the second reason for review, the State argues the decision of the court of appeals is at odds with other precedent addressing sufficiency of the evidence claims. That simply is not true. Consistent with Poellinger, the court of appeals conducted a de novo review of the evidence presented at trial to determine whether there was sufficient evidence to support each of the convictions. While it found there was sufficient evidence to support some of the convictions, the court of appeals found there was insufficient evidence to support all of the convictions.

In its petition, the State suggests there were reasonable inferences to support each of defendant's original convictions (State's petition at 28). The court of appeals obviously disagreed. The State argues the court of appeals ignored cases that suggest that vagueness and credibility in the testimony by a victim is to be weighed by the jury, not an appellate court (State's brief at 18-19). In support of its argument, it points to cases that hold a child victim need not testify with precision as to the date of his or her assault (State's brief at 17-18). It cites a case where a child victim's statement she was touched in her "private" and "potty place" was sufficient to prove sexual assault (State's brief at 18). These examples of vagueness of victim testimony have little to do with this case.

In this case, two of the victims were never asked they were sexually assaulted whether Nevertheless, the State now argues the jury had the ability to conclude the victims were in fact sexually assaulted as alleged. A jury may find guilt based on reasonable inferences. A jury may not find guilt based on speculation. If the victims did not confirm they were sexually assaulted as alleged, there is no basis for a finding of guilt. As identified by the court of appeals, this is mere speculation. Nothing about the decision of the court of appeals upsets any precedent.

Finally, the decision of the court of appeals involves an issue regarding the sufficiency of the evidence. It required a fact-intensive review of the record. It required an application of the facts of the case to well-established law, the antithesis of an issue normally appropriate for review by the Wisconsin Supreme Court.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the State's Petition for Review should not be granted.